RECEIVED

MAR 22 2017

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Horry County

Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

QUARTIS NAQUAN HEMINGWAY APPELLANT

APPELLANT CASE # 2015-001201

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err by failing to suppress the out of court identification of Appellant using a photo lineup because it was tainted by Mario Aldan's view and his wife's¹ view of the Appellant on Facebook, and the identification process was suggestive due to the police investigation on Facebook of Appellant Hemingway which Officer Larry Williams admitted was one of the reasons Appellant was included in the photo line-up which was prejudicial and unconstitutional?

¹ Alejandrina Morales-Gonzales testified that she and Mario were not married. Supp. R. 4, ll. 12 – 24. Mario Aldan referred to Alejandrina as his wife throughout the trial. R. 42, ll. 11 – 21.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 16, 2014, the Horry County Grand Jury indicted Quartis N. Hemingway on two counts of armed robbery (AR), and two counts of kidnapping. On May 27-29, 2015, Hemingway proceeded to trial before the Honorable Michael Nettles and a jury. Hemingway was represented by Buddy Long, and the state was represented by Austin Thomas. R. 1. The jury found Hemingway guilty of all charges as indicted. R. 152, ll. 11 – R. 153, ll. 12. Judge Nettles sentenced Hemingway to eighteen years on each count with all to run consecutive. R. 162, ll. 4 – R. 163, ll. 25. Hemingway's attorney filed a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mario Aldan told the court that he bought junk cars with cash that he sold to the “junker.” Mario’s business card had his telephone number as contact information. R. 41, ll. 7 – 25; R. 64, ll. 1 – 25. On January 17, 2014, he received a phone call from someone wanting to sell Mario two junk cars. Mario agreed to pay the person \$500 for the two cars. They agreed to a meeting place which was in a rural area of Horry County near Loris. R. 64, ll. 1 – 25; R. 69 ll. 13 – 25.

When Mario and his wife arrived at the place, a man came from an apparently empty trailer, and told Mario to leave his car there and walk to the back area where the cars were. When they arrived at the back of the trailer, Mario did not see any cars. Then the man pulled out a revolver, grabbed Mario’s neck, put the gun to Mario’s head, and pushed him down. The man then tied Mario’s arms with tape. Mario was lying face down. Two other men appeared wearing masks and carrying big guns. They searched Mario, but he told them his money was in the car. R. 42; ll. 17 – R. 43, ll. 12.; Supp R. 1, ll. 1 – 24.

One of the men then retrieved Mario’s wife and wallet from Mario’s car. The men threw Mario’s wife down and tied her hands. They stuck guns in the backs of Mario and his wife, and kept demanding more money. The men threatened to kill them if they did not provide more money. The man who first met them who was not wearing a mask then fired a shot into the ground near them. The men put a gun to their heads and threatened to kill them if they went to the police. After about forty-five minutes, the three men left. They had taken two cell phones, \$1600 in cash, and the wife’s jewelry. R. 43, ll. 11 – R. 44, ll. 25; R. 48, ll. 8 – R. 49, ll. 25; R. 51, ll. 1 – R. 52, ll. 24.

Mario was too scared to call the police then so he called his T-mobile company and got the number that had called him for the meeting. He called that number, and a person answered. Mario then went to Facebook, with the help of his friend Dave Hatchell, and searched using that same number. The number was found on the Facebook page of Quartis Hemingway along with Hemingway's picture. Mario printed this information and picture as he believed this was the man who assaulted him. R. 45, ll. 22 -. 46, ll. 24; R. 53, ll. 6 – R. 56, ll. 20.

When Mario finally called the police four days later, Officer Larry Williams responded to the call on January 21, 2014. Mario said he gave Officer Williams the Facebook picture and Appellant's full name and telephone number as seen on Facebook. R. 56, ll. 21 – R. 58, ll. 14.

Officer Larry Williams confirmed that he responded to the call from Mario on January 21, 2014 at Hatchell and Son's Scrapyard. He described Mario and his wife as being very scared still. They explained what had happened and provided him the name of a "possible suspect." R. 70, ll. 1 – R. 73, ll. 21.

Mario and his wife, Alejandrina Morales-Gonzales, explained to Officer Williams that they went on Facebook using the phone number that had called Mario to set up the meeting. They gave Officer Williams that phone number. Officer Williams took the phone number and entered it into Facebook using the Facebook search engine on that same day, January 21, 2014. According to Officer Williams, "multiple different entries popped up all of which led back to the suspect in this case." R. 75, ll. 15 – R. 76, ll. 25.

Officer Williams printed two screen shots from Facebook with that phone number and a picture of several young men. See State's Exhibits 6-7; R. 77, ll. 1 – R. 78, ll. 5.

Officer Williams testified that Mario and his wife did not give him any documents when he met with them. They may have shown him the printout from Facebook with the suspect's photo but no message posts from Facebook. He said that the Facebook page had the name of Quartis Hemingway. R. 91, ll. 1 – 25.

According to Officer Williams, there were two messages posted on Appellant Hemingway's Facebook page that had the phone number. One said: "Someone text me, I'm mad—843-582-2043." The other post also had the same phone number which was the same number Mario provided at their January 21, 2014 meeting. R. 77, ll. 4 – R. 79, ll. 3.

Officer Williams then obtained arrest warrants and generated a photo lineup using the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED). He said he completed a standardized form and emailed it to SLED on January 24, 2014. He received that form back and entered "some very brief information on the photo lineup requests" with information about Appellant Hemingway. That was returned to SLED, and then returned to Officer Williams along with the photo line-up. The photo line-up had six photos "chosen solely on the variety of facial features." R. 79, ll. 9 – R. 81, ll. 24; R. 14, ll. 1 – R. 15, ll. 17. Officer Williams testified that SLED used Hemingway's DMV photo to generate matching photos for the other five photos. R. 26, ll. 8 – R. 27, ll. 23.

Officer Williams then took the photo line-up to Mario and his wife and showed them the six photos on February 18, 2014. He showed Mario the line-up first on the hood of the patrol car while Mario's wife stayed at their truck. Mario said that she could not see who he selected nor hear. Mario selected the suspect's photo immediately. He identified Hemingway in court as the man who held them at gunpoint. R. 58, ll. 15 – R. 61, ll. 22; R. 80, ll. 14 – 25.

Officer Williams said that when he showed the photo line-up to Mario and his wife separately, each one selected Hemingway's photo immediately. R. 80, ll. 14 – R. 85, ll. 25. In the pretrial hearing, Officer Williams testified that it was possible that Alejandrina, Mario's wife, heard what Mario said when he selected Hemingway. She could have heard Mario say that "he's the one" or "that's him." R. 22, ll. 1 – R. 24, ll. 6.

During pretrial motions, defense counsel moved to suppress the out-of-court identification of the photo line-ups because it was tainted by the victims' view of appellant on Facebook and then the police using that information in obtaining the photo line-up which was prejudicial. R. 11, ll. 15 – R. 12, ll. 2. The judge then asked the state:

What do you think about the allegation or position that Mr. Long takes that this is an un-Constitutional show-up, sort of, that taints the subsequent line-up?

R. 5, ll. 7 – R. 6, ll. 19; R. 11, ll. 1 – R. 13, ll. 4.

Later the judge told the state that he "would be happy to entertain any witnesses you have with regard to the constitutionality of the line-up and the ---what they entertain is an unconstitutional show-up." An in-court hearing was then held where Officer Larry Williams testified. R. 13, ll. 1 – 25.

Officer Williams testified that in generating a photo line-up, he completed a form sent to him by SLED. He put the basic information about the suspect on that form and returned it to SLED. SLED then used similar photos from DMV that matched the suspect and created the six person photo line-up. R. 14, ll. 1 – R. 15, ll. 17.

Officer Williams denied that Mario and his wife presented to him any Facebook photographs. He admitted that he did take the phone number Mario gave him, and Officer Williams entered that phone number into Facebook. He did that search of Facebook on

January 21, 2014- the same day he met with Mario and his wife the first time. He printed out the results of his search, but he denied showing those results to Mario. R. 19, ll. 1 – R. 21, ll. 4. Mario and his wife did not provide any specific descriptions of the suspect other than a black male. That is all Officer Williams had in his report of his interview with them. Supp. R. 2, ll. 8 – Supp. R. 3, ll. 21.

Officer Williams said that he thought that Mario and his wife had the Facebook photographs in their possession that they had printed on or before January 21, 2014. R. 24, ll. 4 – 24. He admitted that the Facebook information was one of the reasons the police included appellant in the photo line-up. He explained that it was not the only reason but was one of the reasons. Officer Williams stated:

We looked at the phone numbers and Facebook. We didn't just take the word of the victims. We also did our due diligence on the Facebook stuff as well.

R. 24, ll. 18 – R. 25, ll. 8.

When defense counsel asked him if that was the main reason, Officer Williams stated that it was a reason. R. 25, ll. 9 – 10.

Defense counsel argued to the court that the photo line-up was tainted by the Facebook photos. He argued that there were no specific identifications of the defendant such as height, weight or any other descriptive information except a black male provided by Mario and his wife. The only description came from the Facebook photos. Mario and his wife had seen the Facebook photos and then picked this same person from the photo line-up. Counsel asked that the “out-of-court identification be inadmissible.” R. 28, ll. 13 – R. 30, ll. 8: Supp. R. 2, ll. 9 – Supp. R. 3, ll. 21.

The state argued that law enforcement was “not involved in any way in that identification off of Facebook.” They were not present when the victims obtained the information from Facebook. The solicitor argued that there was nothing unduly suggestive on the part of law enforcement. The solicitor said that SLED used the DMV photo of the suspect and used that to select similar people. R. 30, ll. 10 – R. 31, ll. 5.

The judge found nothing unconstitutional nor suggestive about the photo line-up. He ruled that it was a factual issue for the jury to decide: “are they, in fact, identifying this individual as being the same person that is on Facebook or whether this person is the one that committed the robbery and kidnapping.” The judge continued to state: “it is a legitimate point for the defense to make that what could be construed asa suggestive, almost show-up, might be ---might have tainted their ability to pick it out accurately.” R. 31, ll. 6 – R. 32, ll. 17.

When the photo line-ups shown to Mario and his wife were admitted as State’s Exhibits 1 and 2, defense counsel objected based on his pretrial motions. R. 82, ll. 1 – R. 85, ll. 19; R. 100, ll. 1 – 16.

Officer Williams had testified that he ran a search warrant on the phone number from Facebook in an effort to link Appellant Hemingway to Mario and his wife. He provided the results of that search to Detective Jonathan Martin who was the “cell phone person” for the division in the police department. R. 86, ll. 2 – R. 88, ll. 24; R. 102, ll. 1 – R. 103, ll. 9.

Detective Martin testified that he used a program called Cell Hawk using this program, he did an analysis of Appellant’s alleged phone number found on Facebook to determine the locations of the phone using the phone towers. The locations of the towers

were provided by an FBI database. R. 103, ll. 10 – R. 106, ll. 20. His analysis showed a call from the Facebook number on Hemingway's Facebook page to the cell phone of Mario on January 17, 2014. The closest tower to Appellant's alleged phone number was the tower closest to Blue Moon Drive which was the incident location. R. 108, ll. 12 – R. 114, ll. 6.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred by failing to suppress the out of court identification of Appellant using a photo lineup because it was tainted by Mario Aldan's view and his wife's view of the Appellant on Facebook, and the identification process was suggestive due to the police investigation on Facebook of Appellant Hemingway which Officer Larry Williams admitted was one of the reasons Appellant was included in the photo line-up which was prejudicial and unconstitutional.

In Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972), the United States Supreme Court named a two prong process to determine if an out-of-court identification was admissible: (1) if the identification process was unduly suggestive and (2) if the identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. Neil v. Biggers, id.; State v. Lewis, 354 S.C. 222, 580 S.E.2d 149 (2004); State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 540 S.E.2d 445 (2000); State v. Brown, 356 S.C. 496, 589 S.E.2d 781 (2003).

An in-court identification of an accused is inadmissible if an out-of court identification was so unduly suggestive that it created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. State v. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 526, 552 S.E.2d 300 (2001). Neil v. Biggers cites five factors to determine reliability: (1) opportunity of witness to view criminal at time of crime (2) witness' degree of attention (3) accuracy of witness's prior description of criminal (4) level of certainty by witness at time of confrontation (5) length of time between crime and confrontation. Neil v. Biggers, supra.

In State v. Turner, 373 S.C. 121, 644 S.E.2d 693 (2007), the South Carolina Supreme Court held that a criminal defendant may be deprived of due process of law by an identification procedure which is unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable

mistaken identification. The Court also held that in determining the admissibility of an out-of-court identification, a court must ascertain whether the identification process was unduly suggestive; and even if the identification procedure was suggestive, it need not be excluded so long as, under all the circumstances, the identification was reliable notwithstanding the suggestiveness. Id.

In State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 600 S.E.2d 523 (2004), the Supreme Court held that the central question in determining the admissibility of an out-of-court identification is whether under the totality of the circumstances, the identification was reliable even though the confrontation procedure was suggestive.

Explaining that the reason to exclude identifications when the police have engaged in unnecessarily suggestive confrontations is to deter the police from using these less reliable procedures, this Court held that the Biggers, *supra*, analysis is inapplicable when the identification source is non-governmental as the goal of police deterrence would not be achieved. State v. Tisdale, 338 S.C. 607, 612, 527 S.E.2d 389, 392 (Ct. App. 2000).

Nevertheless, this Court recognized that a defendant's due process rights may be violated "where the mind of a witness is so clouded by suggestions from nongovernment sources that a conviction based principally on the testimony of that witness violates due process." Id. at 613, 527 S.E.2d at 392 (quoting United States v. Peele, 574 F.2d 489, 491 (9th Cir. 1978)).

Applying the factors from Neil v. Biggers, *supra*, to Hemingway's case shows that the identification procedure was not reliable under the totality of the circumstances. Mario had only a brief opportunity to view the suspect initially when the suspect met him at his truck in front of the trailer at the incident location. It was only a few moments

before the suspect pulled a gun on Mario and had him lie down on the ground face down during the entire episode. The wife was also made to lie face down on the ground for the entire time. The wife only saw the suspect briefly in the beginning because she remained in the truck until a masked man came to get her.

Concerning the degree of attention Mario and his wife paid to the suspect, they were terrified by their own admission. They thought they were going to die. The suspect fired a shot into the ground near their heads. In addition, there were two other masked men whose actions Mario needed to try to observe. Mario and his wife were so terrified that they did not notify the police for four days.

Mario's accuracy of the description of the suspect consisted mainly that the suspect was built like Mario and was a black male. The two victims provided no other specific identification factors. R. 26, ll. 8 – 24. They only provided the photo from Facebook and the name.

Mario's and his wife's level of certainty in viewing the photo line-up was skewed because they were certain the person in the photo line-up matched the Facebook photo although they said it was the man who robbed them. This was unreliable because Mario and his wife had the Facebook photo for almost a month before they were shown the photo line-up. This tainted their identification of Appellant because they could not be sure if they were identifying the person from the Facebook page or the robber.

Mario reached the Facebook page of Quartis Hemingway by a telephone number provided by Mario. When the officer checked with the phone company, the phone company did not provide the name of the person who owned the phone. The phone number appeared on Hemingway's Facebook page. It was possible that he was using

someone else's phone number on Facebook. Or someone else may have used Hemingway's phone to call Mario. This was an extremely unreliable source to be the basis of the identification. Although the location of the same number from Facebook was found through the cell phone tower locations to be in the vicinity of the robbery at the time of the incident, this did not prove that Appellant was using that phone on that day.