ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APR 04 2016

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-001201

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

QUARTIS HEMINGWAY,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3922

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1276
Conway, SC 29528
(843) 915-8608

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY

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

ARGUMENT

The trial court properly admitted the victims' out-of-court identifications from photo lineups because they were not unduly suggestive or the result of police procedures, did not create a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification, and did not deprive Appellant of due process.

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in failing to suppress the photo lineup identifications by Victims, and contends the identifications were tainted by Victims viewing Appellant's Facebook page the month prior. He also argues the identification process was suggestive, prejudicial, and unconstitutional due to the police investigation of Appellant's Facebook page, which resulted in Officer Williams including Appellant's picture in the photo lineup. However, the trial court properly admitted Victims' identification testimonies, as there was ample evidence supporting the trial judge's finding that the out-of-court photographic lineup identifications did not result from unduly suggestive police procedures. Thus, Appellant's challenge to the identification testimony should be denied and his convictions should be affirmed.

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, appellate courts only review errors of law. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). "Whether an eyewitness identification is sufficiently reliable is a mixed question of law and fact. In reviewing mixed questions of law and fact, where the evidence supports but one reasonable inference, the question becomes a matter of law for the court." State v. Liverman, 398 S.C. 130, 137-38, 727 S.E.2d 422, 425 (2012). "Generally, the decision to admit an eyewitness identification is at the trial judge's discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of such,

or the commission of prejudicial legal error.” State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 288, 540 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2000).

An out-of-court identification of a defendant violates due process and must be suppressed when the identification procedure used by law enforcement was impermissibly suggestive and conducive to a substantial likelihood of misidentification. Liverman, 398 S.C. at 138, 727 S.E.2d at 425; State v. Dukes, 404 S.C. 553, 557-58, 745 S.E.2d 137, 139 (Ct. App. 2013). A witness’s subsequent in-court identification is inadmissible “if a suggestive out-of-court identification procedure created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification.” State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 81, 600 S.E.2d 523, 526 (2004) (emphasis added). “A criminal defendant may be deprived of due process of law by an identification procedure which is unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification.” Id.

In Neil v. Biggers, the United States Supreme Court set forth a two-part test for courts to use in determining whether due process requires suppression of an eyewitness identification. 409 U.S. 188, 198 (1972). “First, the court must determine whether the identification resulted from ‘unnecessarily suggestive’ police procedures.” Dukes, 404 S.C. at 557, 745 S.E.2d at 139 (emphasis added). “If the court finds the identification did not result from impermissibly suggestive police procedures, the inquiry ends there and the court does not need to consider the second prong.” Id. at 557-58, 745 S.E.2d at 139. “If the court finds, however, that the police used an impermissibly suggestive identification procedure, it must then determine whether the identification was nevertheless ‘so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed.’” Id. at 558, 745 S.E.2d at 139. The defendant bears the burden of proving the identification

procedure was impermissibly suggestive. Id. at 561, 745 S.E.2d at 141 (“Our supreme court has never placed the burden of disproving suggestiveness on the State. The Fourth Circuit, whose decisions regarding federal constitutional law are binding on us, has held the defendant bears the burden of proving the identification procedure was impermissibly suggestive.”).

Suggestiveness

Appellant places great weight on the fact that Victims had only brief interactions with Appellant prior to the robbery itself: Victim 1 viewed Appellant during their walk between his own car and the spot where he was robbed, and Victim 2 saw Appellant only briefly when Victims arrived at address and for a few moments before she was thrown on the ground beside Victim 1. Appellate counsel notes Victims were on their stomach and bound for the majority of the robbery, and that the chaos of the situation impacted their ability to accurately recall the appearance of the unmasked robber. According to appellate counsel, these high emotions led to an unreliable Facebook identification, which in turn led to the improper photo lineup identifications.

Initially, the State notes that the main identification in dispute, Victims' identification of Appellant on Facebook the day after the robbery, is a situation which falls outside of a Neil analysis. In State v. Tisdale, 338 S.C. 607, 527 S.E.2d 389 (Ct. App. 2000), this Court found that pre-trial witness identifications of a defendant based on media coverage were suggestive, but because they police were not involved in the media identifications and they originated from a nongovernmental source, they were admissible. The Court of Appeals noted that the purpose of Neil and its progeny is to deter the police from using a less reliable identification procedure where a more reliable one may be

available, and because no police deterrence would be achieved by excluding identifications in which government agencies were not involved, the circuit court did not err in allowing the witnesses' identification testimony. Id. at 392, 612. Accordingly, this Court found that questions regarding "[t]he extent to which a suggestion from nongovernment sources has influence the memory or perception of the witness . . . is a proper issue for the trier of fact to determine." Id. at 612–614, 392–393 (citing United States v. Peele, 574 F.2d 489, 491 (9th Cir. 1978)).

In the instant case, Victims and Hatchell performed the Facebook search for Appellant on their own, without the involvement of police or any other government agency. (R.p.53, lines 8–21). Accordingly, the trial judge properly ruled that questions regarding whether the Facebook identifications influenced the memories of perceptions of Victims and their later identifications of Appellant were issues reserved for the jury's determination. See Peel, 574 F.2d at 491; Dukes, 404 S.C. at 557–558, 745 S.E.2d at 139 (stating that if an out-of-court identification was not the result of "impermissibly suggestive police procedures, due process does not require the identification to be suppressed); Tisdale, 338 at 612–614; 527 S.E.2d at 392–393.

Moreover, the photo lineup generated by SLED was not suggestive even under a Neal analysis. Victims' identified Appellant in a Facebook picture which included him and three other men. SLED generated a six-man photo lineup using a completely separate picture which had not been seen by Victims, Appellant's DMV photo, and used computer software to select five pictures of individuals possessing similar features to Appellant, including hair style and length, facial hair, and facial features including mouth and nose structure." (R.p.15, lines 4–17; R.p.31, lines 6–18; R.p.81, lines 12–24).

Officer Williams separated Victims during the photo lineup process, and Victims both identified quickly identified Appellant without any outside influence from each other or Officer Williams. (R.p.16, line 13–R.p.18, line 22; R.p.59, lines 4–11; R.p.82, line 12–R.p.83, line 12; R.p.84, line 14–R.p.85, line 10; R.p.99, line 15–R.p.100, line 6; State's Exhibits 1–2).

Finally, Appellant's argument that the photo lineup procedure was suggestive simply because the Victims found Appellant's Facebook page the day after the robbery is completely without merit. Victims did not perform a random search of Facebook to locate Appellant: instead, they performed a search for Appellant's phone number, which yielded two Facebook posts, by Appellant, in which he extended a general invitation for people viewing his profile to contact him. Both of those posts were made within weeks, and in one case, days prior to the robbery. (R.p.53, lines 11–21; R.p.76, line 17–R.p.79, line 8; State's Exhibits 6–7). Additionally, both Victims testified they immediately recognized Appellant as the unmasked robber, despite the presence of three additional men in the Facebook picture. (R.p.53, line 11–R.p.54, line 3; R.p.56, line 9–R.p.57, line 11; R.p.96, lines 10–23; R.p.97, line 19–R.p.98, line 5; State's Exhibit 5). Accordingly, Victims' later identifications of Appellant in the photo lineups and at trial were not due to any suggestive procedure from the state; rather, they were the result of their own investigation, which was based on their own memories of the crime. Appellant has failed to provide any evidence contradicting Victims' testimony, or that anything other than their own search using Appellant's phone number led them to his Facebook page. Thus, Appellant has failed to carry his burden of proving the identification procedure was impermissibly suggestive. See Dukes, 404 S.C.at 561, 745 S.E.2d at 141 (finding a

defendant bears the burden of proving the identification procedure was impermissibly suggestive).

Reliability

When determining the likelihood of misidentification, courts must evaluate the totality of the circumstances using the following factors: (1) the witness's opportunity to view the perpetrator at the time of the crime, (2) the witness's degree of attention, (3) the accuracy of the witness's prior description of the perpetrator, (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and (5) the length of time between the crime and the confrontation. Neil, 409 U.S. at 199-200; State v. Turner, 373 S.C. 121, 127, 644 S.E.2d 693, 697 (2007); State v. Singleton, 395 S.C. 6, 13-14, 716 S.E.2d 332, 335-36 (Ct. App. 2011).

Appellant argues that Victims' photo lineup identifications were not reliable under the totality of the circumstances and that Victims did not satisfy the first four Neil factors. Specifically, he contends: (1) Victims had only a limited opportunity to view the unmasked robber's face during the crime, because they spent the majority of the crime face-down on the ground, and each witness viewed the unmasked robber for only a few moments during the robbery; (2) Victims did not pay much attention to the unmasked robber's features, because they were consumed with serious concern that they would be killed; (3) Victims did not provide Officer Williams with a detailed description of the unmasked robber, and instead relied upon the name and photo they found on Facebook; and (4) the Victims' level of certainty in their identification of Appellant was skewed because they located his Facebook page a month before Officer Williams presented them

with the photo lineups, so they could not be sure if they were identifying the person from the Facebook page or the robber.

As stated previously, Victims' Facebook search for Appellant was an identification involving a nongovernmental source, and as such this Court need not reach the question of the reliability of the photo identifications. See Dukes, 404 S.C. at 557–558, 745 S.E.2d at 139; Tisdale, 338 at 612–614; 527 S.E.2d at 392–393.

As to the first factor, Victims' opportunity to view Appellant's face, Victims testified they met Appellant outside at 3:00 that afternoon, in clear weather. Victim 1 testified he had a conversation with Appellant on the way to the ambush spot, which was approximately 300 yards away, which took the pair roughly three minutes to walk. He stated that during this time, he was able to view Appellant "perfectly well," and had seen his face since the moment he arrived. Victim 2 testified she saw Appellant when they arrived for the sale, and heard the conversation between him and Victim 1 until the two men walked away. Notably, South Carolina courts have repeatedly found that encounters as short as minute were adequate opportunities for identification purposes under Neal. See, e.g., Traylor, 360 S.C. at 83, 600 S.E.2d at 527 (finding three witnesses, who had observed a defendant during a burglary and robbery for respective periods of one minute, five minutes, and ten minutes in a lit area were adequate time periods which did not undermine the reliability of the witnesses' identification of the defendant); Tisdale, 338 S.C. at 614, 527 S.E.2d at 393 (finding bank tellers' identifications of defendant, which ranged from thirty to forty-five seconds during the robbery, were reliable, when witnesses saw defendant clearly, in a well-lit area, without anything obstructing his face).

Appellant also challenges the second factor, Victims' degree of attention to Appellant's appearance, Appellant's argument is without merit. His sole argument regarding this factor is that Victims' apprehension undermined their abilities to accurately recall the unmasked robber's appearance. However, case law disputes that assertion. See State v. Govan, 372 S.C. 552, 560, 643 S.E.2d 92, 96 (Ct. App. 2007) (finding that under circumstances such as an armed robbery, specifically where a gun is being held to a victim's head, the victim's attention would have been heightened) ; see also State v. Blassingame, 338 S.C. 240, 252, 525 S.E.2d 535, 541-42 (Ct. App. 1999) ("A person in fear of his life presumably has a more acute degree of attention to his surroundings than a mere passerby.").

As to the third factor, the accuracy of Victims' description of Appellant, Appellant argues the description was too vague to be reliable, as it primarily consisted of statements from Victim 1 that the unmasked robber was a black male with a similar build to his. (R.p.62, line 15–R.p.63, line 20; R.p.89, line 6–R.p.90, line 3). However, Victim 1 testified he provided Officer Williams with Appellant's name, phone number, and Facebook picture. (R.p.57, line 19–R.p.58, line 14). Accordingly, it was unnecessary for Victim 1 to provide Officer Williams with any significant verbal description of Appellant, as the name, phone number, and photo were far more accurate and useful than a vague, verbal description of Appellant's appearance.

Regarding the fourth factor, the level of certainty demonstrated by Victims during the photo lineup, Appellant argues that Victims' certainty was skewed because they based their identification on Appellant's Facebook photo, and not on their actual memories of the robbery. According to Appellant, this affected the reliability of their identifications

because they were unsure whether they were identifying the unmasked robber or the person whom they identified using Facebook. However, this argument is without merit, because Victims positively identified Appellant as the unmasked robber, and were completely certain of that identification, from the very moment they saw his Facebook picture. Notably, Victims did not base their Facebook identification solely on the results of their phone number search: Appellant's Facebook picture included three other black men, yet they quickly identified Appellant as the man who robbed them. (R.p.53, line 18–R.p.56, line 20; R.p.66, lines 7–13, R.p.67, line 24–R.p.68, line 2; R.p.96, lines 10–23; State's Exhibit 5).

Accordingly, the trial judge did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's motion to suppress the identification testimony. Appellant's conviction and sentences should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION